
 
 

(Established pursuant to section 103 of the Local Democracy, Economic Development  
and Construction Act 2009 as the Halton, Knowsley, Liverpool, St Helens, Sefton  

and Wirral Combined Authority) 

 
MEETING OF THE LIVERPOOL CITY REGION  

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

To: The Members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
 
Dear Member, 
 
You are requested to attend a meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
to be held on Wednesday, 22nd July, 2020 at 10.15 am. This meeting is being 

held remotely. 
 
The meeting will be live webcast. To access the webcast please go to the 
Combined Authority’s website at the time of the meeting and follow the 
instructions on the page.  
 
If you have any queries regarding this meeting, please contact Lisa Backstrom 
on telephone number (0151) 330 1079. 
 

Yours faithfully 
 

 
Head of Paid Service 

 
WEBCASTING NOTICE 

 
This meeting will be filmed by the Combined Authority for live and/or 
subsequent broadcast on the Combined Authority’s website. The whole of the 
meeting will be filmed, except where there are confidential or exempt items.  
 
If you do not wish to have your image captured or if you have any queries 
regarding the webcasting of the meeting please contact the Democratic 
Services Officer on the above number or email 
democratic.services@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk.  
 
A Fair Processing Notice is available on the Combined Authority’s website at 
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Fair-Processing-
Notice-CA-Meeting-Video-Recording.pdf 
 

mailto:democratic.services@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk.
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Fair-Processing-Notice-CA-Meeting-Video-Recording.pdf
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Fair-Processing-Notice-CA-Meeting-Video-Recording.pdf


 

 

 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

AGENDA 
 
 

1. APPOINTMENT OF CHAIR FOR 2020/21  

 To appoint the Chair of the Liverpool City Region Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee for 2020/21. 

   

2. APPOINTMENT OF VICE CHAIR FOR 2020/21  

 To appoint a Vice Chair of the Liverpool City Region Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee for 2020/21. 

   

3. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

   

4. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

   

5. MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING HELD ON 4TH MARCH 2020  

 To consider the minutes of the last meeting of the Liverpool City Region 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee held on 4th March 2020. 

  (Pages 1 - 14) 
 

6. WORK PROGRAMME 2020/21  

 To consider the report of the Statutory Scrutiny Officer. 

  (Pages 15 - 22) 

7. APPOINTMENT OF SCRUTINY MEMBERS TO THE AUDIT & 
GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 2020/21  

 To consider the report of the Monitoring Officer. 
 

  (Pages 23 - 32) 
 

8. PUBLICATION OF THE POST COVID-19 ECONOMIC RECOVERY 
PLAN  

 To consider the report of the Metro Mayor and the Director of Commercial 
Development and Investment. 

  (Pages 33 - 36) 
 

 

 



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

At a meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee held in the Authority 
Chamber - No.1 Mann Island, Liverpool, L3 1BP on Wednesday, 4th March 2020 the 
following Members were 
 

P r e s e n t: 
 

Councillor T Crone (Chair)  Green   Liverpool CC 
Councillor S Gorst   Labour   Liverpool CC 
Councillor T O'Brien   Labour   Liverpool CC 
 
Councillor L Whitley    Labour   Halton BC  
Councillor B Woolfall   Labour   Halton BC 
 
Councillor A Bowden    Labour   St Helens MBC 
Councillor R Hattersley  Labour   St Helens MBC 
 
Councillor H Cameron  Conservative  Wirral MBC 
Councillor A Jones   Labour   Wirral MBC 
Councillor J Stapleton   Labour   Wirral MBC 
 
 
Councillor E Finneran   Labour   Knowsley MBC 
Councillor J Morgan   Labour   Knowsley MBC 
 
Councillor L Dowd   Labour   Sefton MBC 
Councillor C Howard    Labour   Sefton MBC 
Councillor S Marshall   Labour   Sefton MBC 
 
Councillor Dr J Pugh   Liberal Democrat LCR Opposition Group 
Councillor Sir R Watson CBE  Conservative  LCR Opposition Group 

 
 

37. CHAIRMAN'S WELCOME  
 
 The Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, Councillor Tom Crone 
extended a warm welcome to Councillor L Dowd, who was attending her first meeting 
of the Committee since her recent appointment by Sefton Council. 
 
38. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
 Apologies for absence were received from Councillors C Cashman, J Jackson 

and K Wainwright. 

 

39. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
 There were no declarations of interest. 

 

40. MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING HELD ON 12TH FEBRUARY 2020  
 
 The minutes of the meeting of the LCR Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

held on 12th February 2020 were agreed as a correct record and signed by the 

Chairman. 

Page 1

Agenda Item 5



 

41. APPOINTMENT OF VICE CHAIR  
 

The Chief Legal Officer and Monitoring Officer, Jill Coule reported that 
following receipt of legal advice on the issue and in consultation with the Chair and 
Vice-Chair of the Committee, it was proposed that the appointment to this position be 
dealt with in the new Municipal Year 2020/21. 
 

RESOLVED – That approval be given for the appointment of Vice-Chairman 
to be dealt with at the start of the Municipal Year 2020/21. 
 
42. METRO MAYOR S ROTHERAM'S UPDATE  
 
 The Metro Mayor, Steve Rotheram provided an update relating to his recent 
activities and he highlighted the following: - 
 

 It was the last meeting of the Committee before the May 2020 elections, 
although the ramifications of Corona virus may cause the elections to be re-
scheduled; 

 The Mayor’s thanks to the Committee for their contributions and to Officers for 
the running of the meetings; and 

 The Mayor particularly thanked the Chair for taking the time to ensure 
transparency and stated that he was proud of what had been achieved over 
the past 3 years. 

 
 The Metro Mayor, Steve Rotheram added that by working together, the 
foundations has been laid for a fairer, more socially just City Region. 
 
 The Mayor added that as it was the final meeting of the Municipal Year, it was 
an opportunity to reflect on the following key achievements during his first term of 
Office:- 
 

 9000 jobs and 500 apprenticeships; 

 Lots of infrastructure investments across the 6 Districts; 

 Successful lobbying with the Mayor of Greater Manchester regarding the 
Northern Rail franchise which was now back in Government control; 

 The new ‘Maghull North’ rail station; 

 Brand new accessible publicly owned trains on the City Region network; 

 The delivery of £52 million Adult Education Budget; 

 The £1 fast tag in order to reduce congestion and speed up flow through the 
Tunnel; 

 £15 million investment in Kirkby Town Centre to reinvigorate the heart of the 
Town; 

 Half price travel for Apprentices; 

 Tackled the scourge of homelessness with the Region’s 6 Local Authorities to 
provide homes and wrap around support; 

 The ‘Households into work’ Programme which tries to tackle the fundamentals 
of access to employment 

 The ‘Bus Services Act 2017’ and the Combined Authority’s recent decision to 
pursue options for bus reform in the Liverpool City Region; 

 The Metro Mayor’s visions for a ‘London style’ Transport system with smart 
cards and contactless payments on bus network; and 

 The development of a ‘Tidal Energy’ Scheme as a green energy alternative; 
 

Page 2



 The Metro Mayor also reported on his work on a ‘National’ level including 
Discussions with Government Ministers on levelling up and further devolution 
powers.  He had also expressed his concern over the scaling back of the ‘Northern 
Powerhouse.  
 
 The Metro Mayor also welcomed the Government’s commitment to deliver 
HS2, but added that only the delivery of HS2 and Northern Powerhouse Rail together 
was acceptable for the City Region.  He then added that he continued to press 
Government on the need for proper investment in the Northern transport 
infrastructure. 
 
 The Metro Mayor concluded his update by reporting that he was delighted to 
speak at the recent launch of Wirral’s Community Wealth Building Strategy and was 
impressed by their bold approach to keep as much money in the local economy as 
possible.  
 
 Members of the Committee were given the opportunity to ask questions of the 
Metro Mayor. 
 
 Councillor Edna Finneran asked about bus reform and if Local Authorities 
were expected to contribute money towards the franchise? 
 
 The Metro Mayor, Steve Rotheram responded and stated that the reality was 
that we had to find additional money, including Local Authorities.  The Government 
had recently announced funding of £5 billion which was only available to areas 
looking at doing something innovative, therefore the City Region could access 
funding.  The Metro Mayor’s aspiration was to look at transport holistically and have a 
system similar to the London style transport system with a London style subsidy, then 
the City Region Authorities wouldn’t have to subsidise costs in the future. 
 
 Councillor Dr John Pugh referred to page 21 of the agenda papers and the 
‘skills gap’ particularly digital manufacturing and construction skills.  He asked that 
given the amount of building we had in the Region, what the Metro Mayor’s view was 
on what was going wrong and where did interventions need to be made? Was it at 
School level or Employers and did we have the right schemes for the transition from 
School into a skilled occupation?  
 
 The Metro Mayor responded and stated ‘all of the above’, particularly a lack of 
strategic powers to Local Authorities and Combined Authorities, or both. The 
Employment and Skills Team surveyed more than 2000 employers for them to 
forecast future skills needs.  That was compiled into a set of documents which 
includes a ‘construction growth plan’. The Metro Mayor asked Rob Tabb, Policy Lead 
for Employment and Skills to make the documents available to the Members of the 
Committee. The Metro Mayor added that the information was a full breakdown of 
where there were skills shortages and the information was presented to Government 
to request that some of the current £2 billion ‘Apprenticeship Levy’ underspend be 
released. If the City Region had more flexibility and the funding was released, 
apprenticeships could be increased giving young people a great start, Employers the 
skills base they need and an opportunity for people to progress in world of work. 
  
 Councillor Tricia O’Brien asked about buses.  She reported that she had 
attended public meeting the previous evening about the ‘82 bus route.  She referred 
to the upcoming public consultation ‘The Big Bus Debate’ and added that generally, 
the public did not feel that their comments are going to be fully incorporated which 
she understood.  She asked how where we going to get inclusion and once the 

Page 3



results were compiled, how could we explain to the public why they can’t always get 
what they want for very sound and green reasons? 
 
 The Chair, Councillor Tom Crone also added a supplementary question 
regarding the bus debate and model of running the bus routes.  Specifically, he 
asked about the 82, 80 88 and 75 routes where proposed changes had been 
announced and public did not know about those changes. He asked if the Metro 
Mayor had any information on these specific routes. 
 
 The Metro Mayor responded stating that he is asked all the time about 
specific bus routes. He referred to the Climate emergency and the need to get more 
people out of a car and onto buses.  He added that 82% of people use buses with 
400,000 journeys per day.  The Combined Authority currently had responsibility for 
strategy and did not have the power to control routes.  The ideal was to take control 
to regulate bus services so routes, timetables, fare structure, bus style are decided 
by the Combined Authority.  The Metro Mayor stated that this would enable the use 
of subsidy or profit to facilitate another route.  The Combined Authority had not made 
a final decision on its preferred option out of the three types as a result of the Bus 
Services Act 2017 and the bus reform agenda. He added that Greater Manchester 
had opted for the ‘franchising’ model, whilst West Midlands had opted for an 
‘enhanced partnership’. 
 
 Councillor O’Brien asked what sort of survey would be carried out in what 
level of details so that the public really feel that their views were being taken into 
account.   
 
 The Metro Mayor responded and stated that the survey would not be about 
bus routes, but about the strategic direction for the City Region’s transport network 
and the options for which model worked best. 
  
 Councillor Sir Ron Watson CBE, asked if there would be a criteria on 
additional public subsidy on certain routes? Also, would there be a set criteria that 
determined the level of viability for services. If the public were advised on changes or 
recommendations of this from the outset, they would understand what was likely to 
be feasible and what wasn’t. 
 
 The Metro Mayor responded and stated that bus routes follow the strategic 
overview of what the Combined Authority were trying to achieve which was the re-
regulation of bus routes.  He referred to the £64 million spend on route subsidy and 
concessionary travel which was the most generous concessionary scheme in the 
Country.  He added that this all formed part of the decision on bus reform options.  
The Metro Mayor described his aspiration for the roll out of a smart ticketing 
approach which calculated the cheapest fee at the end of the day and could be used 
on all modes of transport, along with more reliable services, better, greener vehicles 
with charge points and WIFI service. This could only be achieved if the Combined 
Authority were in control of bus services.    
 

The Chair, Councillor Tom Crone stated that attracting more people was only 
half of the equation, driving needed to be dis-incentivised.  He asked the Metro 
Mayor if he agreed and if he regretted reducing the fast tag to £1? 
 
 The Metro Mayor responded and stated that he did not regret the £1 fast tag 
as it was a promise made in his manifesto that had been delivered and he made no 
apologies for that.   He said that the City Region needed a genuine quality 
alternative, and the way to do this was by having a fully integrated transport system. 

Page 4



 The Metro Mayor added that he did not own a car anymore, he used public 
transport, walked and cycled.  He added that he had just returned from the launch of 
‘Active Travel’ in Runcorn which encouraged walking and cycling as a better 
alternative. 
 
 Councillor Sam Marshall asked about the Fairness and Social Justice 
Advisory Board. She asked about its function and where it sat in the Combined 
Authority structure.  She referred to the public sector duty under the Equality Act 
2010 to undertake equality impact assessments on policy and strategy development 
and referenced the previous duty in relation to those in lower socio-economic groups. 
She asked was this Board a way to include this specific group and ensure that they 
are not negatively impacted.  
 
 The Metro Mayor responded stated that the Combined Authority complied 
with all the equality legislation as part of everything it did but he wanted to go further 
to make things better. He added that the Board was chaired by Lynn Collins and 
looks at policy making within the organisation but also came up with ideas for 
consideration by the Combined Authority.  As an example, the Metro Mayor referred 
to the use of buses late at night, how women felt more vulnerable and what could be 
done to address it within the transport system.  The Board was also representative of 
young people to enable their views to be incorporated into the process. 
 
 Councillor Marshall asked where the Board sat within the structure of 
Liverpool City Region Combined Authority and was everything being fed in for 
review? 
 
 The Metro Mayor responded and stated that it was a stand-alone Board and 
the first of its kind in the Country. The constitution was drawn up and agreed by 
Government.  The Board sat within the Policy Strategy area of the Authority. The 
Metro Mayor requested that the terms of reference for the Fairness and Social 
Justice Advisory Board be circulated to Members of the Committee for information. 
 
 Councillor Helen Cameron, referred to the Wirral Community Wealth Building 
which received cross party support aside from setting specific targets and the report 
indicated that they were delighted to have exceeded Preston’s ‘keep it local’ model 
with 46% of spend retained in Wirral. She added that the Health and Social Care 
sector was 74% but all other classifications were 7%.   She asked would the Metro 
Mayor actively encourage the ‘keep it local’ campaign to include private businesses, 
SME’s and micro businesses not just the 3rd Sector. 
 
 The Metro Mayor responded stating that he did believe it had to be 
everybody.  He indicated that the imbalance between private and public sector had to 
be redressed. He added that the 3rd sector had been under-utilised.  It had stepped in 
where councils had been forced to cut services. Self-employment was huge across 
the City Region and the Metro Mayor acknowledged that by separating some of the 
£75 million business support package funding for those who previously couldn’t bid 
in.  He added that the framework was being developed by ‘Power to Change’ to 
include employer ‘social responsibility’, e.g. no zero hours contracts, payment of real 
living wage and greater diversity.   
 
 Councillor Cameron also referred to analysis of some of the spend that the 
Combined Authority were responsible for e.g. recruitment and IT and unfortunately 
because of the private sector, it isn’t done locally, but it should be done locally 
regardless.  
 

Page 5



 The Metro Mayor agreed and stated that he didn’t wasn’t to come across as a 
‘protectionist’, but there was a better way to do things that would help to prop up 
some local businesses and better use of local supply chains.  He added that the 
Combined Authority was looking to be assessed.  He was hopeful that instead of 
referring to the ‘Preston’ model, the ‘Liverpool City Region’ model would be 
highlighted as currently the ‘Preston’ model was being done here ‘at scale’.   
 
 The Chair, Councillor Tom Crone, thanked the Metro Mayor, Steve Rotheram 
for his attendance and his update to the Committee.  
 
43. DIGITAL INFRASTRUCTURE PROJECT UPDATE  
 
 The Liverpool City Region Overview and Scrutiny Committee considered the 
report of the Head of Mayoral Programme Delivery which provided an update on the 
Digital Infrastructure Project.   
 
 Lorna Rogers, Head of Mayoral Programme Delivery gave a presentation to 
the Committee which highlighted the following:- 
 

 An overview of the digital connectivity programme; 

 The proposed delivery model; 

 The ‘Dig Once’ approach; 

 How improving internet speed added an average of £17 million GVA per 
annum; 

 The development of end use inclusion projects; and 

 The timeline for the next steps in the project. 
 
 The Chair of the Committee, Councillor Tom Crone invited questions and 
comments from Members of the Committee. 
 
 Councillor Christine Howard referred to the £17 million GVA per annum to 
each Local Authority and asked if that would be delivered via a boost to the economy 
rather than a lump sum to each District. 
 
 Lorna Rogers, Head of Mayoral Programme Delivery responded and agreed 
that it was mainly through productivity gains as better connectivity helps businesses 
to grow and innovate.  She added that a robust economic assessment had been 
done and that could be shared with members of the Committee. 
 
 Councillor Sam Marshall asked who was in the pool of providers for digital 
infrastructure owner, if that information be shared and secondly would the fibre optic 
cable used be new or would some existing superfast cable be utilised? 
 
 Lorna Rogers, Head of Mayoral Programme Delivery responded and stated 
that information on the pool of providers could not be disclosed as it was a live 
procurement but the market had been widely consulted with.  She indicated that in 
relation to cabling, it was anticipated that it would all be new but it depended on the 
solution the provider presented. 
 
 Councillor Dr John Pugh commented on aspects of the project in relation to 
competition with ‘Openreach’ and others as directed by Government, the idea of 
waiting for roads to be dug up to lay cable on an ‘ad hoc’ basis and on the other side 
waiting for the road to be dug up opportunistically. 
 

Page 6



 Lorna Rogers, Head of Mayoral Programme Delivery responded and stated 
that works would be co-ordinated when plans were in place to undertake highways 
works to take advantage of the opportunity to install infrastructure so the road is now 
being dug up twice. 
 
 Councillor Dr Pugh also asked if the project was waiting for highways works 
to be able to install cable. 
 
 Lorna Rogers, Head of Mayoral Programme Delivery responded and stated 
that it would be the other way around and selected schemes were aligned to the 
backhaul route and schemes were planned over the next 2 years.  Following a further 
query on cables, she added that it would be new cables. 
 
 Councillor Tricia O’Brien asked whether this was completely independent of 
the 5G roll out. 
 
 Lorna Rogers, Head of Mayoral Programme Delivery responded and stated 
that it was separate but 5G still needed to go into the ground and connect to a fibre 
network. 
 
 Councillor Helen Cameron asked about the ‘Dig once’ element.  She referred 
to the key route on the A41 having extensive cabling installed and how wildflowers 
had been planted on former grass verges instead of re-turfing it.  She asked if this 
could be considered as part of the scheme. 
 
 Lorna Rogers, Head of Mayoral Programme Delivery responded and stated 
that it could be taken into consideration. 
 
 Councillor Sam Marshall asked what an ‘open access network’ was. Was it 
the provision of free WIFI across the region? 
 
 Lorna Rogers, Head of Mayoral Programme Delivery responded and stated 
that it was open to other internet service providers to provide services, e.g. Virgin 
media is closed, but Openreach isn’t, so there is a lot more choice of providers for 
the customer and end user. 
 
 
 RESOLVED –  
 

(i)  That the progress on the Digital Infrastructure Project be noted;  
 

(ii)  that the Liverpool City Region Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 continue to receive regular updates on the project; 

 
(iii)  that the intent to procure a commercial partner to deliver a  backhaul 

 network following a competitive procurement process and that this 
 decision will be presented to the Combined Authority for approval, be 
 noted; and 

 
(iv)  that Lorna Rogers, Head of Mayoral Programme Delivery be  
 thanked for her informative presentation. 
 

  
 
 

Page 7



44. MERSEY TIDAL PROJECT UPDATE  
 
 The Liverpool City Region Overview and Scrutiny Committee consider the 
report of the Head of Tidal Project Development which 
 

(1) Provided a summary of recent progress in the Mersey Tidal Power project; 
 

(2) summarised the findings; and  
 

(3) outlined the trajectory of the project and the proposed next stage of 
development.   

 
 Shaun Benzon, Head of Tidal Project Development also gave a presentation 
which detailed the progress made to date and the next steps which was expected to 
result in a preferred option to take forward for development funding. 
 
 The presentation highlighted the following:- 
 

 The history of Mersey tidal power; 

 What had changed and the creation of opportunities;  

 Recent developments; 

 The whole energy market analysis; 

 The key findings of the strategic case; 

 Options appraisal; 

 Summary of findings; and 

 Next steps. 
 
 The Chair of the Committee, Councillor Tom Crone invited questions and 
comments from Members of the Committee. 
 
 Councillor Sir Ron Watson CBE referred to paragraph 5.10.4 on page 14 of 
the agenda papers and stated that this clearly indicated that the current policy 
adopted on a national basis wasn’t sufficient.  He expressed concern at groups that 
claim that if you stopped certain activities it would solve the problem, when it 
wouldn’t. He referred to the UK’s contribution to reducing carbon emissions not being 
significant in the global sense but that didn’t mean it wasn’t the right thing to do.  
Councillor Watson asked if any modelling had been done to estimate the contribution 
in percentage terms that this project would make to carbon reduction or was it too 
early to tell. 
 
 Shaun Benzon, Head of Tidal Project Development responded and 
commented that the Committee on Climate Change was looking into how the UK 
could get to net zero by 2050.  He acknowledged that the UK was a small net 
contributor in the global sense.  
 
 In response to the question, Shaun Benzon, Head of Tidal Project 
Development stated that it was a difficult one to answer as at that stage there were a 
range of potential options.   The larger options had the potential to power one million 
homes, so in percentage terms that was roughly 8% of the North West electricity 
requirement.   
 
 Councillor Edna Finneran referred to recommendation 2.1 (c) and asked had 
the jobs already been advertised? 
 

Page 8



 Shaun Benzon, Head of Tidal Project Development responded and stated 
that following the decision of the Combined Authority on 28 February 2020, the 
Senior Managerial roles had been advertised.  There would also be additional roles 
including junior and apprentice positions which would be advertised in the coming 
weeks.  He added that if there were any recommendations for that process he would 
be willing to take them on board. 
 
 Councillor Finneran was concerned that the Committee was recommending 
the process but it was already being done. 
 
 Jill Coule, Chief Legal Officer and Monitoring Officer clarified that the 
recommendation in the report was to note that staff were being recruited and that 
was put to the Combined Authority at its meeting on 28 February 2020 so it was to 
make you aware that the team for this project was going to increase. 
 
 Councillor Dr John Pugh commented that it was essential to be upfront and 
state that there would be an environmental impact and a displacement of wildlife, 
albeit for greater environmental benefit.  He made reference to ‘Government 
engagement’ which was included throughout the report, in particular, paragraph 5.8.1 
on page 13 of the agenda which stated that financial revealed an encouraging 
reduction in costs.  Councillor Pugh talked about the experience in Swansea on a 
similar project where it was almost at point of shovel and the Treasury withdrew 
commitment.  He asked that if we didn’t get the strike price and money was still being 
spent pursuing the project, shouldn’t Government engagement be accelerated, to 
ensure that we receive a 20% subsidy for the strike price and if the answer was ‘no’, 
would the project be put on hold. 
 

 Shaun Benzon, Head of Tidal Project Development responded and stated 
that Government talks were accelerating over the next phase and the importance of 
in principle support from Government was recognised.  As much more electricity was 
required for use and to achieve net zero by 2050, cheaper fossil fuel technologies 
could not solely be relied upon to achieve this target, additional capacity was needed.  
This project was low risk was a technological perspective and if support for the 
subsidy was received from Government it would be delivered quickly. Government 
were considering this technology as an important part of the future electricity supply 
mix.  He added that there was a good line of sight for driving down costs and the 
20% figure was achievable with further development work. 
 
 Councillor Dr John Pugh asked that for the sake of the Combined Authority 
and the use of public resources, the conversation with Government could be as 
candid as possible, given that offshore wind power is already a proven technology 
and a viable alternative.   
 
 Shaun Benzon, Head of Tidal Project Development responded and stated 
that offshore wind was great but it was not generating all of the time, so the more you 
added that energy type to the grid, the more you need alternatives to fill in the gaps.  
At the moment the alternative was gas, but there was more flexibility with tidal energy 
on when you could dispatch your energy to meet demand.  He concluded and stated 
that part of engagement with government was encouraging them to consider 
technologies on a more holistic basis so some of the wider system benefits are taken 
into account.  
 
 Councillor Liz Dowd stated that she was very supportive of the project. She 
commented that she had recently visited hydro-electric plants in Norway which were 
developed, owned and run by the Regions and they benefit from profits.  Councillor 

Page 9



Dowd asked in the event the project went ahead, would the asset owned by the 
Liverpool City region and would it benefit the Region. 
 
 Shaun Benzon, Head of Tidal Project Development stated that it was a hard 
question to answer at this stage. From a wider strategic context, he felt that they 
should be a locally owned asset as the benefits could be realised locally.  He 
referenced a project in St Malo which initially was an expensive project when it was 
built, but the capital costs had now been repaid and because the operation and 
maintenance costs were so low, it provided some of the cheapest electricity in 
Europe. He added that taking a long sighted view was part of engagement with 
Government to see what avenues could be explored to apply the regular asset based 
model approach to this type of project. 
 
 Councillor Sam Gorst stated that he was supportive of the project but sensed 
financial uncertainty.  He referred to the £3.5 billion cost and asked where the 
additional funding was coming from and if there had been assurances given by 
Central Government on additional funding and support. 
 
 Shaun Benzon, Head of Tidal Project Development stated that it depended on 
the level of support.  The funding that had been committed in comparison to the 
overall capital expenditure of the project was small.  Part of the reason for the very 
structured approach to the development was to ensure that money wasn’t being 
spent unnecessarily. The funding that had been secured was appropriate for this 
stage of development. Future revenues may come from Government if a support 
mechanism could be agreed, then it wouldn’t be difficult to raise the capital required 
to build the project through things like institutional investors or pension funds. 
 
 Councillor Sam Marshall tanked Shaun Benzon for the regular updates. She 
asked what SMR and CCUS meant. 
 
 Shaun Benzon, Head of Tidal Project Development stated that SMR was a 
small modular reactor which was a concept used instead of large nuclear power 
stations.  CCUS related to carbon capture and underground storage which was a 
facility to capture and store carbon dioxide somewhere that didn’t contribute to 
greenhouse gas emissions.   
 
 Councillor Sam Marshall asked about the timeline for the project and how 
long the building time would be for the actual project? 
 
 Shaun Benzon, Head of Tidal Project Development stated that a detailed 
construction methodology had not been done yet and it depended on the size of 
scheme.  It was generally the mechanical and electrical equipment which had the 
longest lead time and currently the timescale was 3-4 years from placing your first 
order to having those machines commissioned, ready to plug into the grid and 
generate power. 
 
 Councillor Marshall commented that it would be beneficial if some of the 
output for this work could generated locally and not exported and also how the 
project tied into air quality improvement. 
 
 Councillor Helen Cameron referred to the lifetime of infrastructure and the 
windfarm on Burbo Bank and asked if one of the options was to reuse or recycle 
existing infrastructure particularly due to the concrete and drilling that went into that 
build. 
 

Page 10



 Shaun Benzon, Head of Tidal Project Development stated that the nature of 
these types of projects mean that you would never really fully decommission it was a 
requirement from the Crown Estate to develop a decommissioning plan for these 
types of projects. He added that as part of the next phase, a decommissioning plan 
for the project could be looked into. 
 
 Councillor Cameron commented that her question may have been 
misunderstood, she stated that the decommissioning of the wind farm was already 
evident within the timeline, it wasn't about the decommissioning and the end of life of 
the tidal project infrastructure, it was about existing infrastructure and the next 15 
year plan and re-utilising it. 
 
 Shaun Benzon, Head of Tidal Project Development indicated that he was not 
aware of the plans for the decommissioning at Burbo Bank as it was not a project he 
was involved in I'm really involved in.  He was aware that anecdotally, there were 
opportunities for repowering offshore wind farms by installing new turbines, but this 
was dependent on the location of the foundations so he wasn’t in a position to 
comment that project. 
 
 Councillor Cameron asked again would the project be utilising any of the 
existing infrastructure that was already in the Mersey Estuary, or would it be a 
completely separate build.  
 
 Shaun Benzon, Head of Tidal Project Development stated that he did not 
think that there would be a lot of crossover in the infrastructure, so it would need to 
be a separate build. 
 
 Councillor Christine Howard asked what framework for decision making would 
be used by the project team that is going to be put in place in terms of decisions that 
they're able to make independently and those that are required to taken by the 
Combined Authority. 
 
 Shaun Benzon, Head of Tidal Project Development indicated that he was in 
the process of putting together a multi criteria analysis decision-making process 
which will be applied to that ensure the project had involvement and buy-in from key 
stakeholders.  The process would be similar to the current process with regular 
updates to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee with requests for comments and 
regular reports to Combined Authority meetings where key decisions on the project 
were required. 
 
 Jill Coule, Chief Legal Officer and Monitoring Officer added that there was a 
significant process to go though and it will carry on through Combined Authority.  She 
added that information on the legal process could be included as part of the next 
update to the Committee in due course. 
 
 The Chair, Councillor Tom Crone referenced the new technology having a 
reduced impact on the natural environment and asked if Shaun Benzon could explain 
more about that.  Councillor Crone asked about the £3.5 billion and whether there 
was a range for different projects that were being looked at. He also referred to the 
potential to power up to a million homes and asked what that meant in terms of 
megawatts or gigawatts for the most energy that was likely to be generated.  Lastly, 
would the carbon impact of construction be calculated and would the carbon debt be 
paid back by 2040. 
 

Page 11



 Shaun Benzon, Head of Tidal Project Development indicated that the turbines 
that had been used in the past were fixed speed machines.  By varying the speed of 
the turbine it can operate very efficiently into both directions of the tide. This helps to 
mitigate some environmental impact as within your enclosed basin you have the 
same high-tide level and low tide level and have the flexibility to shape the profile of 
the tidal curve within that basin and create more intertidal habitat. 
 
 In relation to the second question, Shaun Benzon stated that it was anywhere 
from £1 – 1.5 billion on smaller projects, up to £8 or 9 billion depending on the size of 
the structure.  The deliverability question also came into play with the potential for 
further cost reductions in the next phase. 
 
 In relation to energy capacity, Shaun Benzon indicated that it was from 1 
gigawatt up to nearly 4 gigawatts installed capacity.  He added that these were 
significant projects on a small nuclear power scale for some of them so they had the 
opportunity to contribute significantly to our energy requirements. 
 
 Finally, Shaun Benzon responded on the carbon cost of construction and 
stated that it hadn’t been looked at in the last phase.  Other tidal projects of this 
nature had considered it and there were always going to be carbon costs with the 
amount of concrete but because the project would be generating such large volumes 
of renewable energy, the payback period was typically within a 3 year period. 
 
 The Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee thanked Shaun Benzon 
for his attendance and informative presentation. 
 
  RESOLVED –   
 

(i)  That the progress made in developing a viable tidal energy scheme, 
be noted ;  

 
(ii) that the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority Overview &  

   Scrutiny Committee receive regular updates during Phase 3  
   of the project; and 

 
(iii) that the Combined Authority’s intent to recruit or second a small in-

house team, supported by external consultant experts, to undertake 
this next phase of work, be noted. 

 
 
45. LIVERPOOL CITY REGION SKILLS INVESTMENT STATEMENT 2020/21  
 

The LCR Overview and Scrutiny Committee considered the report of the 
Assistant Director Policy and Strategic Commissioning which submitted the Liverpool 
City Region Skills Investment Statement 2020/2021 for consideration. 

 
Rob Tabb, Policy Lead for Employment and Skills highlighted the key 

messages and activity around delivering the outcomes detailed in section 3 of the 
report. 

 
The Chair of the Committee, Councillor Tom Crone invited questions and comments 
from Members. 
 
 Councillor Tricia O’Brien commented that as a City Region there were still 
issues for school age children which had never been addressed by Government, 

Page 12



particularly in relation to funding cuts per pupil and that attainment would not be 
improved at age 16 without earlier intervention.  Councillor O’Brien added that she 
was aware of the work being done on Adult Education within the Apprenticeship 
Scheme which was to be applauded but she felt that something needed to be done at 
an earlier age. 
 
 Rob Tabb, Policy Lead for Employment and Skills responded and stated that 
there was a clear evidence base about early intervention and many Local Authorities 
were doing some excellent work around early intervention and early help with 
programmes to try to address these issues. 

 
RESOLVED –  
 
(i) That the report and the Liverpool City Region Skills Investment 

Statement 2020/2021 of local needs as set out in Appendix One to the 
report, be noted; and 

 
(ii) that Members of the LCR Overview and Scrutiny Committee give 

consideration to areas which may be suitable for further investigation 
in future work programmes and submit any suggestions via e-mail to 
Democratic Services. 

 
46. CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENT  
 
 As this was the last meeting for this Municipal Year, the Chair, Councillor Tom 
Crone took the opportunity to thank Members and officers for their contribution to the 
work of the Liverpool City Region Overview and Scrutiny Committee over the past 
year.  He also thanked Committee members who were not in attendance, in 
particular, Councillor Kevan Wainwright for being a very committed and active 
member of this Committee. 
 
 
 
Minutes 37 to 46 received as a correct record on the 22 day of July 2020. 
 

 

Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny  
 

(The meeting closed at 12.25 pm) 
 
 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 14



LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 
 
To:  The Chair and Members of the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee  
 
Meeting:     22 July 2020 
 
Authority/Authorities Affected:  All  
 
EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM: No 
 
 

REPORT OF THE STATUTORY SCRUTINY OFFICER 
 

WORK PROGRAMME 2020/21  
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to inform the Committee on arrangements for the work 

programme scheduled for 29 July 2020 which will assist Committee Members in 
developing a work programme for 2020/21. 
 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 It is recommended that the Overview and Scrutiny Committee:- 
 

(i) Endorse the arrangements for the work planning session scheduled for 29 
July 2020; and 
  

(ii) Agree that proposals for the 2020/21 Overview and Scrutiny Work 
Programme be presented to the meeting of the Committee on 5 September 
2020 for approval. 

 
 
3. BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 The role of the LCR Overview and Scrutiny Committee is to review or scrutinise 

decisions made, or other action taken, by the Combined Authority or of the Metro 
Mayor. This can be achieved in the role of ‘Critical Friend’ and through monitoring 
the delivery of the Combined Authority and Metro Mayor’s Corporate or Strategic 
Plans and Policies.  

 
3.2 The Committee will also support the Combined Authority and the Metro Mayor to:- 

 Develop policies to deal with new issues; 

 Review existing policies which are considered to be in need of review;  

 Contribute to the formulation and review of the annual budget; 

 Review policies or actions of agencies external to the local authorities which 
may be impacting adversely on the quality of life of local people; and  

Page 15

Agenda Item 6



 To undertake scrutiny reviews into areas of strategic importance for the City 
Region. 

 
3.3 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee should consider matters of strategic 

significance for the Liverpool City Region area with a view to focusing on sub-
regional issues that are directly linked to the work of the Combined Authority and 
the Metro Mayor. Furthermore, the Committee should not deal with individual issues 
or queries that are more suitably dealt with by a Constituent Council or specific 
organisation.  
 
 

4. WORK PROGRAMME 
 
4.1 At the beginning of each municipal year the Committee should determine the areas 

of work it wishes to pursue during the ensuing 12 months. The work programme 
should be flexible and consider activity for formal Committee meetings and Task 
and Finish Groups.  

 
4.2 To support the Committee in developing a work programme, a remote session is to 

be held on Wednesday 29 July 2020 and further details will be circulated to 
Members of the Committee.  

 
4.3 As part of this session, the Committee should reflect on how the coronavirus 

pandemic has impacted upon the work of the Combined Authority and reflect this in 
its work programme. Recognising that the Combined Authority is focusing on the 
economic response to the pandemic, which is developing at pace and the 
arrangements to scrutinise this work may also need to reflect this.  
 

5. OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY ANNUAL REPORT  
 
5.1 Members will be aware that the Committee is required to produce an Annual Report 

at the end of each municipal year. This Annual Report will be presented to the 
Committee’s meeting in September, thus allowing the LCR LEP Board and 
Combined Authority to consider the recommendations of the LCR LEP Task and 
Finish Group and for this to be reflected within the Annual Report  
 
 

6. PUBLIC QUESTIONS – LCR COMBINED AUTHORITY – 20 MARCH 2020 
 
6.1 At the meeting of the LCR Combined Authority held on 20 March 2020, Unlock 

Democracy submitted two questions for consideration by the Combined Authority. 
The questions and the response from the Metro Mayor are attached as Appendices 
to this report.  

 
6.2 The questions submitted raised two issues, firstly that an opportunity to submit 

questions to this Committee should be included on its agendas and secondly 
expressed their concern regarding the poor attendance by some Committee 
Members and asked that the Committee be reminded of the importance of the 
Scrutiny function.  
 

6.3 In response to the first question it should be noted that any proposed change to the 
governance arrangements for this Committee would need to be considered and 

Page 16



approved by the Combined Authority. The Metro Mayor has requested that the 
Committee give consideration to identifying appropriate engagement mechanisms 
and such proposals will be presented at a future meeting.  

 
6.4 The Statutory Guidance on Overview and Scrutiny in Local and Combined 

Authorities published by the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government recognised that Overview and Scrutiny should have a profile within the 
wider community and consideration should be given as to how scrutiny engages 
residents, particularly in the work planning process.  
 

6.5 The Combined Authority recently undertook an extensive LCR Listens engagement 
process with residents and the feedback from this could be used to inform the work 
planning process.  
 

 
7. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 Financial 
 

There are no direct resource issues as a result of the recommendations contained 
within this report.  
 

7.2 Human Resources 
 
  There are no direct human resource issues as a result of the recommendations 

contained within this report.  
 
7.3 Physical Assets 
  
 There are no direct issues as a result of the recommendations within this report.  
 
7.4 Information Technology 
 
 There are no direct issues as a result of the recommendations contained within this 
 report.  
 
 
8. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  
 
8.1 The Committee should adhere to the scrutiny provisions as set out in the LCR 

Combined Authority Constitution any other appropriate legislation, including but not 
limited to the Statutory Guidance on Overview and Scrutiny in Local and Combined 
Authority. 

 
 
9  RISKS AND MITIGATION 
 
9.1 Should the Committee not produce a work programme there is a risk that its 

effectiveness will be limited.  
  

Page 17



 
 
10.  EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 There are no specific implications related to this report.  
 
 
11. PRIVACY IMPLICATIONS  
 
11.1 There are no specific privacy implications associated with is report.  
 
 
12.  COMMUNICATION ISSUES 
 
12.1 There are no specific communications issues contained in this report.  
 
 
13.  CONCLUSION 
 
13.1 This report provides Members with an opportunity to give guidance to officers as to 

their Work Plan requirements for 2020/21.  
 
 

TRUDY BEDFORD  
Statutory Scrutiny Officer  

 
 

Contact Officer(s): 
Trudy Bedford, Statutory Scrutiny Officer (0151 330 1330) 
 
Appendix A – Public Questions submitted to the LCR Combined Authority – 20 March 
2020  
 
Appendix B – Response from the Metro Mayor in relation to the public questions 
 

Page 18



LCR COMBINED AUTHORITY – 20 March 2020  

Public Question Time 

 

Question One – Merseyside and West Cheshire Unlock Democracy Group 

We at the Merseyside and West Cheshire Group of Unlock Democracy value the 
regular item agenda allowing for questions at this LCRCA meeting and have used 
this facility a number of times since the inception of the Authority. We would now 
request that a similar agenda item be included in the meetings on the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee and trust that it’s Chair and relevant officers will agree to this 
addition. 

Question Two – Merseyside and West Cheshire Unlock Democracy Group  

We have previously expressed concern about the number of occasions that 

the Overview and Scrutiny Committee has been inquorate. Poor attendance by some 

members has been noted and we would request that the Combined Authority and its 

officers reiterate the importance of this function and to reinforce the view that the 

working of this body be taken seriously by its membership.  

 

 

 

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 

Steve Rotheram 
Metro Mayor 

Liverpool City Region 
Mann Island, PO Box 1976, Liverpool, L69 3HN 

3 April 2020  
 
LCRCAPQ20032020 
 
 
Dear Dr Woodcock      
 
Public Question Time – Combined Authority Meeting of 20 March 2020      
 
Thank you for your two questions, which were submitted for consideration to the LCR 
Combined Authority held on the 20 March 2020. My response to your two questions 
is set out below.    

With regards to your first question, I have asked the Monitoring Officer and the 
Statutory Scrutiny Officer to refer this question to the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee for their consideration. Should the Committee identify appropriate 
proposals they will be referred back to the Combined Authority for their consideration. 
I will of course ask that you be kept informed of developments.  

Having inquorate meetings of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee is something 
which I take very seriously as inquorate meetings could have a detrimental impact on 
the governance of the Combined Authority. I would like to re-assure you that behind 
the scenes a lot of work has been undertaken with the Leaders and Chief Executives 
of the constituent Local Authorities to explain the impact inquorate meetings has on 
the Overview and Scrutiny function and ask them to encourage Elected Members to 
attend meetings. Officers are also working directly with the Chair and Members of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee to encourage them to make every effort to attend. 
This concerted effort ensured that the last meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee was quorate.  

I am sure you are aware that the issue of inquorate Combined Authority Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee’s is not particular to the Liverpool City Region and is a challenge 
faced by other Combined Authorities across the Country. The reason for this is that 
the threshold for quorum is set at two thirds, which is in contrast to that of Local 
Authorities which is one third. I have made representations to Government on this 
matter and asked them to consider aligning the quorum threshold with that of Local 
Authorities.  

 

 

Page 21



 
 
 

Steve Rotheram 
Metro Mayor 

Liverpool City Region 
Mann Island, PO Box 1976, Liverpool, L69 3HN 

Furthermore, with the very recent temporary changes to The Local Government Act 
1972, (via the Coronavirus Act 2020) we are looking to introduce the facility for Elected 
Members to dial in remotely to meetings of the Combined Authority and its 
Committees. This may also be one measure to improve attendance at Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees in the short term.  

However, we recognise that more needs to be done to continue to improve attendance 
at meetings of the Committee and a number of options are being explored for possible 
implementation in the new municipal year.  

 

Yours sincerely 
 

 
 
Steve Rotheram 
Metro Mayor, Liverpool City Region 

Page 22



LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 
 
To:      To the Chair and Members of the Overview and Scrutiny 
     Committee  
 
Meeting:     22 July 2020 
 
Authority/Authorities Affected:  All 
 
EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM: No 
 
 

REPORT OF THE MONITORING OFFICER  
 

APPOINTMENT OF SCRUTINY MEMBERS TO THE AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE 
COMMITTEE 2020/21 

 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 To seek nominations from the Committee for four members to sit on the Combined 

Authority’s Audit and Governance Committee 2020/21. This Committee, requires 
the appointment of two Labour Councillors, one Liberal Democrat Councillor and 
one Conservative Councillor and to appoint substitute members on the same basis.   

 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 It is recommended that the Overview and Scrutiny Committee appoints: 
 

(a) Four Members comprising of two Labour Councillors, one Liberal Democrat 
Councillor and One Conservative Councillor to sit on the Audit and 
Governance Committee 2020/21; and 

 
(b) Four substitute Members comprising of two Labour Councillors, one Liberal 

Democrat Councillor and One Conservative Councillor to act as substitutes on 
the Audit and Governance Committee 2020/21.  

 
 
3. BACKGROUND 
 

Membership of the Audit and Governance Committee 
 
3.1 The Audit and Governance Committee is composed of 7 Members as follows: 
 

 6 elected Councillors which are drawn from both the Combined Authority and 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee; and  
 

 1 Independent Member. 
 
 

Page 23

Agenda Item 7



3.2 The Combined Authority at its annual meeting agreed the allocation of seats to its 
various Committees. Of the six seats allocated to Members for the Audit and 
Governance Committee, two are allocated to Members of the Combined Authority.  
These appointments have been confirmed as Councillors David Baines and Pat 
Hackett (substituted by Councillors Ian Maher and Graham Morgan should that 
prove necessary).  The remaining four seats are allocated to Members of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee. Likewise any substitutes are similarly drawn 
from Overview and Scrutiny members.  In order to ensure political balance across 
the City Region there are two seats allocated for Labour Party members and one 
each for the Liberal Democrat and Conservative Party members. 

 
3.3 An Independent Person, Mr Martin McDonagh was appointed to the Audit and 

Governance Committee in 2018. 
 
 Terms of Reference for the Audit and Governance Committee 
 
3.4 The Terms of Reference for the Audit and Governance Committee are attached at 

Appendix One for information. 
 

 
4. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 Financial 
 
  There are no financial issues arising from this report.  
 
4.2 Human Resources 
 
  There are no human resource issues arising from this report.  
 
4.3 Physical Assets 
 
 There are no physical asset issues arising as a consequence of this report.  
 
4.4 Information Technology 
 
 There are no Information Technology issues arising from this report.  
 
 
5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  
 
5.1 The Audit and Governance Committee is a key component in the Combined 

Authority’s Corporate Governance arrangements.   The Committee membership 
has to be constituted in accordance with the governance arrangements set out in 
the LCR Combined Authority Constitution and any other appropriate legislation.  
This is to ensure that the Audit and Governance Committee can effectively carry out 
its purpose and functions as set out in its Terms of Reference detailed in Appendix 
One to the report. 

 
  

Page 24



6.  RISKS AND MITIGATION 
 
6.1 There is a risk that should the appointments to the Audit and Governance 

Committee 2020/21 not be made this would be detrimental to the principle of good 
governance for the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority.  

 
 
7.  EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 There are no direct equality and diversity implications as a result of this report.  
 
 
8. PRIVACY IMPLICATIONS  
 
8.1 There are no specific privacy implications associated with is report.  
 
 
9.  COMMUNICATION ISSUES 
 
9.1 There are no direct communication issues arising from this report.  
 
 
10.  CONCLUSION 
 
10.1 It is anticipated that the proposed appointments will support the operation of the 

Audit and Governance Committee 2020/21. Once Members have been appointed 
arrangements will be made for appropriate training, if required. 

 
 

JILL COULE  
Monitoring Officer  

 
Contact Officer(s): 
Trudy Bedford, Committee Services Manager (0151 330 1330) 
Lisa Backstrom, Senior Democratic Services Officer (0151 330 1079) 
 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix One 
 
Background Documents:  
None  
 
 
 
 

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix One 
 

Extract of the LCRCA Constitution – June 2020 

D.  AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 
 
1.  Membership 
 
1.1 The Audit and Governance Committee will be composed of 7 Members as 

follows: 
 
(a) 6 Members which consist of two from the voting members of the Combined 

Authority and four members from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee; 
and  
 

(b) 1 Independent Member. 
 
2. Chairing the Committee 
 
2.1 The Chair shall be appointed annually from amongst the voting membership of 

the Committee at its first meeting following the Annual Meeting and before 
proceeding to other business.  

 
3. Appointment  
 
3.1 The Combined Authority shall appoint an Audit and Governance Committee at 

the Annual Meeting of the Combined Authority, which shall consist of: 
 
(a) members appointed from the voting members of: 

(i) Combined Authority and 
(ii) Overview and Scrutiny Committee, together with 
(iii) another elected voting member as a substitute member of the Audit 

and Governance Committee to act in the absence of the member 
appointed above, in such a manner that the members of the Audit 
and Governance Committee taken as a whole will reflect, so far as 
reasonably practicable, the balance of political parties for the time 
being prevailing among members of the Constituent Councils when 
taken together; 

 
(b) at least one Independent Person, appointed through the prescribed 

procedure and who: 
(i) is not a member, co-opted member or officer of the authority;  
(ii) is not a member, co-opted member or officer of a parish council for 

which the authority is the principal authority;  
(iii) is not a relative, or close friend, of a person within sub-paragraph (i) 

or (ii); and  
(iv) was not at any time during the 5 years ending with an appointment: 

1. a member, co-opted member or officer of the authority; or 
2. a member, co-opted member or officer of a parish council for 

which the authority is the principal authority; and 
 

(c) such non-voting members may be co-opted from other organisations in 
such manner and at such times as the Audit and Governance Committee 
may decide. 

Page 27



 

Extract of the LCRCA Constitution – June 2020 

 
4. Quorum 
 
4.1 No business of the Audit and Governance Committee shall be transacted 

unless at least two-thirds of the voting members are present. 
 
5. Meetings and Procedure 
 
5.1 The Committee will conduct business in accordance with the overview and 

scrutiny rules, meeting standing orders, access to information rules and other 
standing orders, codes and protocols set out in Part 4 of this Constitution. 

 
5. Delegation 
 
6.1 The Committee may establish such sub-committees, panels and ad-hoc 

working groups as it considers expedient to assist it. 
 
7.     Statement of Purpose 
 
7.1 The Audit and Governance Committee is a key component in the Combined 

Authority‟s Corporate Governance Arrangements. Its main objectives are to: 
 

 provide an independent and high-level focus on the audit, assurance and 
reporting arrangements that underpin good governance and financial 
standards; 

 provide independent assurance to members of the adequacy of the risk 
management framework and the internal control environment.  It provides 
independent review of the Combined Authority‟s governance, risk 
management and control frameworks and oversees the financial reporting 
and annual governance processes.  It oversees internal audit and external 
audit, helping to ensure efficient and effective assurance arrangements 
are in place; and 

 promote and maintain high standards of conduct by Combined Authority 
Members.  

 
8.      Functions 
 
8.1 The Combined Authority has delegated to the Audit and Governance 

Committee the following roles in order to advise the Combined Authority: 
 
Governance, risk and control 
(a) To review the Combined Authority‟s corporate governance arrangements 

against the good governance framework, including the ethical framework 
and consider the local code of governance; 

 
(b) to satisfy itself that the Combined Authority‟s Annual Governance 

Statement properly reflects the risk environment and any actions required 
to improve it, taking into account the internal audit‟s opinion on the overall 
adequacy and effectiveness of the Combined Authority‟s framework of 
governance, risk and management control, and demonstrate how 

Page 28



 

Extract of the LCRCA Constitution – June 2020 

governance supports the achievements of the Combined Authority‟s 
objectives; 

 
(c) to consider the Combined Authority‟s arrangements to secure value for 

money and review assurances and assessments on the effectiveness of 
these arrangements; 

 
(d) to consider the Combined Authority‟s framework of assurance and ensure 

that it adequately addresses the risks and priorities of the Combined 
Authority; 

 
(e) to monitor the effective development and operation of risk management in 

the Combined Authority; 
 
(f) to monitor progress in addressing risk-related issues reported to the 

committee; 
 
(g) to consider reports on the effectiveness of internal controls and monitor 

the implementation of agreed actions; 
 
(h) to review the assessment of fraud risks and potential harm to the 

Combined Authority from fraud and corruption; 
 
(i) to monitor the counter-fraud strategy, actions and resources; 
 
(j) to review the governance and assurance arrangements for significant 

partnerships or collaborations; 
 

Internal audit 
(a) to consider the effectiveness of the Combined Authority‟s risk 

management arrangements and the control environment.  Review the risk 
profile of the organisation and assurances that action is being taken on 
risk-related issues, including partnerships with other organisations; 

 
(b) to monitor the effectiveness of the control environment, including 

arrangements for ensuring value for money and for managing the 
Combined Authority‟s exposure to the risks of fraud and corruption; 

 
(c) to approve the internal audit charter; 
 
(d) to approve the Code of Ethics for Internal Audit; 
 
(e) to review proposals made in relation to the appointment of external 

providers of internal audit services and to make recommendations; 
 

(f) to approve the risk-based internal audit plan, including the internal audit‟s 
resource requirements, the approach to using other sources of assurance 
and any work required to place reliance upon those other sources; 

 

Page 29



 

Extract of the LCRCA Constitution – June 2020 

(g) to support the effectiveness of the internal audit process and promote the 
effective use of internal audit within the assurance framework; 

 
(h) to approve significant interim changes to the risk-based internal audit plan 

and resource requirements; 
 
(i) to make appropriate enquiries of both management and the Head of 

Internal Audit to determine if there are any inappropriate scope of 
resource limitations; 

 
(j) to oversee internal audit‟s independence, objectivity, performance and 

professionalism; 
 
(k) to consider any impairments to independence or objectivity arising from 

additional roles or responsibilities outside of internal auditing of the Head 
of Internal Audit.  To approve and periodically review safeguards to limit 
such impairments; 

 
(l) to consider reports from the Head of Internal Audit on internal audit‟s 

performance during the year, including the performance of external 
providers of internal audit services.  These will include: 

 updates on the work of internal audit including key findings, issues of 
concern and action in hand as a result of internal audit work; 

 regular reports on the results of the Quality Assurance & 
Improvement Programme (QAIP); and 

 reports on instances where the internal audit function does not 
conform to the Public Sector Internal Audit (PSIAS) and Local 
Government Application Note (LGAN), considering whether the non-
conformance is significant enough that it must be included in the 
Annual Governance Statement (AGS). 

 
(m) to consider the Head of Internal Audit‟s annual report: 

 the statement of the level of conformance with the PSIAS and LGAN 
and the results of the QAIP that support the statement – these will 
indicate the reliability of the conclusions of the internal audit; and 

 the opinion of the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the 
Combined Authority‟s framework of governance, risk management 
and control together with the summary of the work supporting the 
opinion – these will assist the committee in reviewing the AGS. 

 
(n) to consider summaries of specific internal audit reports as requested; 
 
(o) to receive reports outlining the action taken where the Head of Internal 

Audit has concluded that management has accepted a level of risk that 
may be unacceptable to the Combined Authority or there are concerns 
about progress with the implementation of agreed actions; 

 
(p) to contribute to the QAIP and in particular, to the external quality 

assessment of internal audit that takes place at least once every five 
years; 

Page 30



 

Extract of the LCRCA Constitution – June 2020 

 
(q) To consider a report on the effectiveness of internal audit to support the 

AGS, where required to do so by the Accounts and Audit Regulations; 
 

(r) To provide free and unfettered access to the Audit & Governance 
Committee chair for the Head of Internal Audit, including the opportunity 
for a private meeting with the Committee. 

 
External audit 
(a) to support the independence of external audit through consideration of the 

external annual assessment of its independence and review of any issues 
raised by Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA); 
 

(b) to consider the annual letter, reports and recommendations of external 
audit and inspection agencies and their implications for governance, risk 
management or control, and monitor management action in response to 
the issues raised by external audit; 
 

(c) to comment on the scope and depth of external audit work and to ensure 
it gives value for money; 
 

(d) to commission work from internal and external audit; 
 

(e) to advise and recommend on the effectiveness of relationships between 
external audit and internal audit, inspection agencies and other relevant 
bodies; 
 

Financial reporting 
(a) to review the annual statement of accounts. Specifically, to consider 

whether appropriate accounting policies have been followed and whether 
there are concerns arising from the financial statements or from the audit 
that need to be brought to the attention of the Combined Authority; 
 

(b) to consider the external auditor‟s report to those charged with governance 
on issues arising from the audit of the accounts; 
 

Standards 
(a) to promote and maintain high standards of conduct by Members; 

 
(b) to assist Combined Authority Members to observe the Combined 

Authority‟s Code of Conduct for Members; 
 

(c) to advise the Combined Authority on the adoption, revision or replacement 
of the Combined Authority‟s Code of Conduct for Members and the 
Combined Authority‟s Arrangements for Dealing with Complaints that 
Combined Authority Members have failed to comply with the Combined 
Authority‟s Code of Conduct for Members (“the Authority‟s 
Arrangements”); 

 

Page 31



 

Extract of the LCRCA Constitution – June 2020 

(d) to monitor the operation of the Combined Authority‟s Code of Conduct for 
Members and the Authority„s Arrangements; 
 

(e) to advise, train or arrange to train Combined Authority Members to 
observe the Combined Authority‟s Code of Conduct for Members; 
 

(f) to determine, in accordance with the Authority‟s Arrangements, whether a 
Member has failed to comply with the Combined Authority‟s Code of 
Conduct for Members and, if so, to determine what action (if any) to take 
in respect of the Combined Authority Member, such actions to include: 

 publication of the findings of the Combined Authority‟s Standards 
Committee in respect of the Subject Member‟s conduct; 

 reporting the findings of the Combined Authority‟s Standards 
Committee to the Combined Authority for information; 

 recommendation to the Combined Authority that the Subject Member 
should be censured; 

 instructing the Combined Authority‟s Monitoring Officer to arrange 
training for the Subject Member; or 

 recommendation to the Combined Authority that the Subject Member 
should be removed from all appointments to which the Subject 
Member has been appointed or nominated by the Combined 
Authority;  

 
(g) to determine appeals against the Monitoring Officer‟s decision on the 

grant of dispensations; 
 
Accountability arrangements  
(a) to report to the Combined Authority on the Committee‟s findings 

conclusions and recommendations concerning the adequacy and 
effectiveness of the Authority‟s governance, risk management and internal 
control frameworks; financial reporting arrangements, and internal and 
external audit functions;  
 

(b) to report to the Combined Authority on the performance of the Committee 
in relation to its Terms of Reference and the effectiveness of the 
Committee in meeting its purpose; 
 

(c) to publish an annual report on the work of the Committee; 
 

Amendments to the Constitution 
(a) to consider proposed constitutional amendments; 

 
Information Management 
(a) to determine on behalf of the CA information management policies and 

procedures and monitor their application; and 
 

(b) to report to the CA on an annual basis, the up to date position regarding 
information management policies, procedures and their application. 

 

Page 32



LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 
 
To:       The Chair and Members of the Overview &  
      Scrutiny Committee  
 
Meeting:      22nd July 2020 
 
Authority/Authorities Affected:   All 
 
EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM:   No 
 
 

REPORT OF THE METRO MAYOR AND DIRECTOR OF COMMERCIAL 
DEVELOPMENT AND INVESTMENT  

 
PUBLICATION OF THE POST COVID-19 ECONOMIC RECOVERY PLAN 

 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1  Following the COVID-19 pandemic, the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority 

has drafted an Economic Recovery Plan on behalf of its members and dozens of 
key stakeholders. The Combined Authority’s members have agreed this report and 
submitted it for consideration by government. This paper presents the report and 
immediate actions resulting. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 It is recommended that the Overview and Scrutiny Committee members: 

 
a) Note the approved plan;  

 
b) Note the need to regularly update the plan to reflect government’s own recovery 

planning and the evolving course of the pandemic; and 
 

c) Endorse the actions already underway to progress actions within the plan. 
 
 
3. DEVELOPMENT OF THE PLAN 
 
3.1 In developing this Economic Recovery Plan the Combined Authority has; conducted 

on-going economic impact analysis, including through primary research, review of 
secondary research, constant liaison with government, frequent surveys and direct 
contact with organisations and individuals; engaged extensively with over 300 
stakeholders from the Liverpool City Region across the private, public and 
community and voluntary sectors; and examined approximately 100 potential 
project or programme contributions.  

 
3.2 This is therefore a City Region plan rather than a Combined Authority plan or public 

sector plan. It will support the City Region’s engagement with government on 
recovery planning/funding as well as provide a local framework for delivering the 

Page 33

Agenda Item 8



recovery. Since both government’s thinking and the course of the pandemic will 
continue to change, the Combined Authority will continue to update the plan.  

 
 
4. IMPLEMENTATION 
 
 
4.1 Officers from the Combined Authority and its member local authorities have already 

launched working programmes to maximise the impact of building retrofit, 
employment programmes for 16-18 year olds and development of key investments. 
The scale of the challenges ahead underline the need for a new level of 
partnership. 

   
 
5. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 The Plan will act as a framework for allocating future City Region resources further 

to government clarification of the national recovery package.   
 
5.2 There are no direct costs arising from publication of the Recovery Plan. Further 

iterations of the Recovery Plan will be undertaken using existing Combined 
Authority staff resources.  

 
 
6.  LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 There are no legal implications arising as a result of the recommendations of this 

report.  
 
 
7.  RISKS AND MITIGATION 
 
7.1 There are no direct implications. The Recovery Plan will help set the strategic 

direction for economic growth policy across the City Region and support the 
prioritisation of the associated national recovery package.   

 
 
8.  EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1 Inclusivity and equality is at the heart of the Recovery Plan, and through the 

adoption of the Build Back Better principles we have ensured that the development 
of the plan has reflected this.  The consultation exercise has been thorough and 
includes an array of interested parties, including the public (through focus group, 
events and surveys). The Recovery Plan will also be subject to an Equality Impact 
Assessment during July.  

   
  

Page 34



 
9.  COMMUNICATION ISSUES 
 
9.1 A Communications Strategy accompanies the Recovery Plan.  The Recovery Plan 

has been developed in an accessible format and in a way which is public facing.  
The key messaging from the plan will also be disseminated in a variety of ways to 
reach different audiences across the City Region.      

 
 
10.  CONCLUSION 
 
10.1 This Economic Recovery Plan was drafted, and must be delivered, in partnership. It 

is key to shaping medium term policy and investment priorities and decisions for the 
City Region, protecting businesses’ operations and residents’ livelihoods today 
whilst supporting the longer term aims of the LIS – underpinned by measures 
designed to “build back better”.  

        
STEVE ROTHERAM 

Metro Mayor the Liverpool City Region 
 

DR AILEEN JONES 
Assistant Director of Policy and Strategic Commissioning 

 
MARK BOUSFIELD 

Director of Commercial Development & Investment 
 

 
Contact Officer(s): 
Patrick Eastwood, Project Manager 
Patrick.eastwood@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk 
 
Appendices: 
 
Economic Recovery Plan, Final Version – (This will be circulated under separate cover) 
 

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Minutes of the last meeting held on 4th March 2020
	Minutes

	6 Work Programme 2020/21
	Enc. 1 for Liverpool City Region Overview and Scrutiny Committee Work Programme for 2020/21
	Enc. 2 for Liverpool City Region Overview and Scrutiny Committee Work Programme for 2020/21

	7 Appointment of Scrutiny Members to the Audit & Governance Committee 2020/21
	Enc. 1 for Appointment of Scrutiny Members to the Audit & Governance Committee 2020/21

	8 PUBLICATION OF THE POST COVID-19 ECONOMIC RECOVERY PLAN

